THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No.: 2011-CP-23-07338
Appellate Case No. 2015-000162

Pankaj Patel, individually and derivatively on behalf of Nominal Defendant,
VP Enterprises, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Krish Patel, Vijay Patel, and P Communications, Inc., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James R. Gilreath (S.C. Bar No. 02133)
William M. Hogan (S.C. Bar No. 65272)
THE GILREATH LAW FIRM, P.A.
110 Lavinia Avenue (zip 29601)
P. O. Box 2147
Greenville, SC 29602
Telephone: (864) 242-4727

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This action involves issues arising from three individuals who formed and became officers and promoters of a corporation seeking a new business opportunity. The business opportunity was initially denied to the corporation apparently due to facts known by two of its original promoter/officers and not previously disclosed to the third promoter/officer. Those two promoters/officers, who failed to make a full disclosure to the third promoter/officer, immediately sought and obtained the new business opportunity through another corporation. However the two promoter/officers who obtained the new business opportunity failed to ever fully disclose their actions in ultimately obtaining the business opportunity and more importantly never made a full disclosure to their partner of two material facts which undoubtedly resulted in the initial denial to the corporation formed by the three of them.

Appellant Pankaj Patel (“Kaj”) and Respondents Vijay Patel (“Vijay”) and Krish Patel (“Krish”)¹ jointly agreed to pursue a corporate opportunity through VP Enterprises, Inc. (“VP Enterprises”) to operate a chain of Verizon Wireless stores. They were all promoters and officers, and Kaj and Vijay were directors. A license application was made by VP Enterprises to Verizon, but was denied “at this time”. At the time of the application, Vijay and Krish failed to disclose two material facts to Kaj which undoubtedly led to the denial by Verizon of VP’s application. Undisclosed to Kaj were: (1) the fact that Vijay had a criminal record for shoplifting which he falsely denied on his Verizon application; and (2) the fact that Krish, who had extensive retail experience with Verizon and was listed as the general manager and contact name on the Verizon

¹ Kaj is not related to Vijay or Krish despite the same surname. Vijay is Krish’s father.

application materials, had been recently terminated by Verizon for violations of corporate policy involving family accounts.

Following Verizon's denial Kaj immediately inquired of Vijay and Krish why VP Enterprises was denied. Krish and Vijay did not reveal Vijay's criminal history or Krish's firing from Verizon even though those facts were the two most likely reasons for the refusal. With that information withheld from Kaj, the parties agreed to assign Krish the task of discovering the reasons for the denial.

After the application was denied on the first round, Krish within weeks began pursuing a Verizon license by using the name of another individual, who in actuality played almost no role in the application process. Krish assisted his straw man in forming a new corporation, P Communications, Inc. ("P Communications"), which submitted a new license application to Verizon using virtually the same paperwork used by Kaj, Krish and Vijay as promoters for VP Enterprises. Verizon approved P Communications' application, but neither Kaj nor the board of directors of VP Enterprises was ever made aware of these actions, or even the existence of P Communications. Kaj filed suit after he finally became aware of the details involving the new corporation and the straw man. Kaj was never made aware of Vijay's criminal record and Krish's termination from Verizon until after he filed suit.

When P Communications opened its first Verizon Wireless store, Vijay and Krish informed Kaj that Krish had just opened a Verizon Wireless retail store. While the testimony varies on what was said between Krish and Kaj, Krish testified: "And what I actually said was that I'd joined up with another individual who obtained a license, and that if there was an opportunity down the road that I'd give him [Kaj] a call." Krish

failed to disclose to Kaj the full name of his straw man, the name of the new company, the fact P Communications was created with VP Enterprises' business plan, the fact Krish had no intention of calling Kaj later about new opportunities with the Verizon retail business, and the fact Krish had already laid plans to oust his straw man and make himself the new owner. Despite these omissions by Respondents, who held positions as officers and director of VP Enterprises, the Lower Court held the statute of limitations began to run against Kaj at this point.

Within two months of the opening of the first store, Krish's straw man sold his shares back to P Communications, and Krish brought in a new partner to be a co-owner with him in P Communications. Within several months the new co-owner also transferred his shares to Krish, leaving Krish as the sole owner. Respondents did not mention a word to Kaj about these ownership changes, much less offer him an opportunity to participate.

Kaj continued to meet with Krish and Vijay for the next year and a half to discuss business affairs, but Krish and Vijay made no mention of P Communications. Krish meanwhile opened at least four more Verizon retail stores during this time without informing Kaj or VP Enterprises of the existence of P Communications.

In April 2010 Kaj contacted Krish about a possible venue in North Carolina for a Verizon retail store. The two met in Krish's P Communications' office during May and early June 2010 to discuss the Verizon venture. For the first time, Krish revealed to Kaj the names of his company P Communications and Krish's straw man, the involvement of Vijay in the company, and the opening of multiple stores. From that information, Kaj's research uncovered Respondents' wrongful appropriation of VP Enterprises' Verizon business opportunity. Kaj filed suit on November 4, 2011.

A central issue in this appeal is whether fiduciaries can disclose partial truths and limited amounts of information while withholding significant and material information about their misconduct and then seek protection under the statute of limitations from the date of partial disclosure. A corollary issue before the Court is whether the duties owed by a director and officer continue after a corporation receives an initial denial of a prospective business opportunity.

Since the firmness of a refusal to deal by a third party, such as Verizon here, cannot be adequately tested by the diverting corporate officer alone, other jurisdictions have required the reasons for the refusal to deal be fully disclosed to the corporation along with pertinent facts about the new opportunity the diverting officer seeks. Without full disclosure there will be a temptation to officers to refrain from exerting their strongest efforts on behalf of the corporation since, if the deal does not come to fruition, an opportunity of profit will be open to the officers personally.² As a result, Respondents' omissions and misrepresentations make Kaj's claims timely and render Respondents liable for the opportunity they misappropriated.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did Respondents fraudulently conceal from Kaj and VP Enterprises their breaches of the duties of loyalty and care thereby tolling the applicable statutes of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-8-300(e) and 33-8-420(e) and precluding the defense of laches?

2. Did Krish and Vijay as officers and director of VP Enterprises continue to owe Kaj and/or VP Enterprises a fiduciary duty or an obligation to act in good faith, with

² Kelly v. 74 & 76 W. Tremont Ave. Corp., 4 Misc. 2d 533, 536, 151 N.Y.S.2d 900 (Sup. Ct. 1956).

due care, and in the best interests of the corporation and its shareholders after Verizon Wireless rejected VP Enterprises' application "at this time" for a Verizon retail store license?

3. If so, did Respondents breach such duties to Kaj and VP Enterprises by misappropriating a corporate opportunity of VP Enterprises?

4. Did Kaj properly pursue this case as a derivative action on behalf of VP Enterprises, or alternatively could Kaj bring his claim as an individual action?

5. May Kaj and VP Enterprises seek an accounting, equitable disgorgement and a constructive trust for violations by Krish and Vijay of their duties as officers and director and a declaratory judgment imposing such relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The history of the proceedings in the Lower Court is as follows:

1. Pankaj Patel, individually and derivatively on behalf of VP Enterprises, commenced this action by filing, on November 4, 2011, a Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Greenville County, South Carolina. (R. p. 39).

2. On February 7, 2012 Kaj, individually and derivatively on behalf of VP Enterprises, filed an amended complaint which primarily added additional fact allegations in paragraphs 19 and 45-47 thereof. (R. pp. 84, 88, and 94-95).

3. By order filed June 7, 2012 with the Greenville County Clerk of Court for the Court of Common Pleas, the Supreme Court ordered the case to be assigned to the Business Court Pilot Program of the South Carolina Circuit Courts.

4. Kaj asserted 13 causes of action in his amended complaint: (1) dissolution of VP Enterprises, Inc., (2) violation of standards of conduct for directors under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-300 against Vijay, (3) violation of standards of conduct for officers under § 33-8-420 against Vijay and Krish, (4) breach of fiduciary duty against Vijay and Krish, (5) an accounting from all Respondents, (6) breach of fiduciary duty for partnership liability, (7) fraud against Vijay and Krish, (8) constructive fraud against Vijay and Krish, (9) negligent misrepresentation against Vijay and Krish, (10) equitable disgorgement against all Respondents, (11) constructive trust against all Respondents, (12) a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and (13) a declaratory judgment.

5. In post-trial briefing, Kaj dismissed his claims for fraud, constructive fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act.

6. Respondents asserted Kaj's suit was barred under the statutes of limitation and laches. Respondents also asserted that any duties Vijay and Krish owed to Kaj and VP Enterprises extinguished before the acts of misrepresentation and omission that Kaj alleged the individual Respondents committed. Alternatively, Respondents asserted that VP Enterprises had no viable corporate opportunity capable of being usurped.

7. The parties agreed that the liability and damage issues would be bifurcated and the liability issues tried first. The liability portion was tried non-jury before The Honorable Edward W. Miller on July 21 and 22, 2014. Following the parties' post-hearing briefs, the Lower Court entered an Order on December 31, 2014 denying liability

on Kaj's remaining claims. The Lower Court based its ruling on the defenses of Respondents set forth in paragraph 6 above.

8. Kaj received the Lower Court Order by e-mail on December 31, 2014 and by U.S. Mail on January 5, 2015. Kaj served his Notice of Appeal to opposing counsel and the Clerk of the Court of Appeals on January 23, 2015 by U.S. Mail.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Kaj's claims pursued at trial and on appeal involve a breach of fiduciary duty by Krish and Vijay for their usurpation of a corporate opportunity of VP Enterprises, for conduct that is fraudulent, oppressive, or unfairly prejudicial, and for violation of the statutory duties of directors and officers under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-8-300 and -420. These causes of action all sound in equity. A claim for breach of fiduciary duty may be in equity or at law depending on the relief sought. Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 17, 690 S.E.2d 771, 773 (2010). In this case, Kaj seeks remedies of accounting, constructive trust and disgorgement, all of which are equitable claims. The parties agreed to bifurcate the proceedings in this action between liability and remedies due to the complexity of the equitable remedies that could be fashioned and the expense of damage expert testimonies. Thus the primary remedy is equitable, making this matter an equitable action. See Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon, 381 S.C. 417, 427, 673 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2009) ("An action for an accounting sounds in equity."); see also Lollis v. Lollis, 291 S.C. 525, 530, 354 S.E.2d 559, 561 (1987) ("An action to declare a constructive trust is in equity"); see also Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. at 17, 690 S.E.2d at 773 (stating disgorgement is an equitable remedy). This case was also filed as a shareholder

derivative suit which is a suit in equity. See Straight v. Goss, 383 S.C. 180, 207-208, 678 S.E.2d 443, 458 (Ct. App. 2009).

In an appeal from an action in equity tried by a judge, appellate courts may find facts in accordance with their own views of the preponderance of the evidence. They may also decide questions of law with no particular deference to the lower court's findings. Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014), reh'g denied (Apr. 2, 2014). Where witness testimony at trial was presented through video deposition, the appellate court is placed in an equal position to judge the witness' credibility.³ See Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A., 351 S.C. 287, 296, 569 S.E.2d 371, 376 (Ct. App. 2002).

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND EVIDENCE

The pleadings, documentary evidence and testimony show the undisputed facts as follows:

A. VP Enterprises Planned and Created

During the latter part of 2007 Kaj, Krish and Vijay were co-owners in a real estate company named KVP Investments and Operation, LLC. (R. p. 170, lines 11-22). Krish formerly worked at Verizon Wireless Company from 2004 through October 22, 2007 as a retail customer support/service technician and later as a retail sales representative. (R. pp. 957 and 1104). Krish informed Kaj in late 2007 he "had terminated his employment with Verizon Communications and joined into business with his father Vijay Patel in the hotel and real estate business." (R. p. 121; R. p. 172, lines 12-17, and R. p. 261, lines 4-9). In contrast Krish testified at trial: "I was forced to resign [from Verizon] because of working

³ Kaj will be submitting to the Clerk of Court for the Court of Appeals video discs containing portions of the video depositions played at trial.

with family accounts and it was against company policy.” (R. p. 506, line 22- p. 507, line 1; R. p. 149, lines 16-20). In short, Krish never disclosed to Kaj he was fired from Verizon until the trial of this case. (R. p.172, lines 18-25; R. p. 545, lines 10-14 and R. p. 572, lines 2-5).

From his previous business ventures, Kaj had developed a revenue-and-cost spreadsheet to help analyze whether a business plan would have potential. (R. p. 980). In late 2007, Kaj, Krish and Vijay began discussions about entering into the Verizon wireless phone business as independent agents. (R. p. 508, line 18 – p. 509, line 1; R. p.173, line 13 – p. 175, line 21; R. pp. 87-88). Kaj and Krish then met in late November and/or early December 2007 to run financial projections for a retail store using Kaj’s spreadsheet. Krish admitted he and Kaj worked together on the financial projections for VP Enterprises. (R. p. 122, ¶¶23 and 24). Krish had information on the revenues from Verizon account activations and sales of accessories, while Kaj had information on the various business costs to be incurred. (R. pp. 981 – 998). After Kaj and Krish ran the financial projections on his spreadsheet and saw the moderate profit projections for a single store, Kaj, Krish and Vijay agreed to pursue the Verizon franchise business by developing a multi-store operation. (R. p. 173, line 13 – p. 175, line 21 and R. p. 178, lines 12-21).

Kaj and Krish then met to develop a business plan to present to Verizon. (R. pp. 121-122, ¶17). Kaj had a business plan he developed for a previous restaurant venture, Tava Grill, that he forwarded to Krish. (R. p. 510, lines 20-21 and R.p. 178, line 24 – p. 179, line 21; R.pp. 958-971). Kaj’s Tava Grill business plan included relevant demographic information for the Greenville market. Kaj’s Tava Grill business plan was

derived from a business plan he obtained off the internet but which Kaj then added his research on the Greenville, South Carolina business environment. (R. p. 167, line 12 - p. 168, line 7; R. pp. 959-964). On December 5, 2007 Kaj e-mailed these business plans to Krish to use for their new Verizon business venture. (R.p. 958). In the e-mail Kaj instructed Krish regarding his prior Tava Grill business plan: "Please keep confidential and do not distribute." Krish admitted that both Kaj and Krish participated in the drafting of a business plan for VP Enterprises. (R. p. 122; R. p. 510, line 16 – p. 511, line 13).

As part of the parties' business plan, attorney Allan Hill represented Kaj, Krish and Vijay Patel in the incorporation of VP Enterprises and was responsible for drafting all the initial corporate documents. (R. p. 123). Krish was concerned that because he had formerly worked at a Verizon corporate-owned store, Verizon might not allow him to be an owner of independent Verizon stores. (R. pp. 121-122, ¶17). The three then agreed the stock in VP Enterprises would be titled in Kaj and Vijay's names, each owning 50%, but that the 50% titled in Vijay's name would be shared equally between Vijay and Krish. (R.p. 613, line 24 – p. 614, line 10). The corporate records named Kaj as president, Vijay the vice-president, and Krish as secretary-treasurer. (R. pp. 1135, 1137, and 1138; R. p. 568, lines 10-16). In the business plan Kaj was named president and CEO, Vijay the vice-president, and Krish the general manager and project developer. (R. p. 978).

In this venture Kaj would be able to bring access to his \$800,000 line of credit, banking relationships and twenty plus years of business experience. Krish had the Verizon sales experience along with the time to manage the day-to-day operations. (R. p. 192, lines 5-22). Krish was also one of the corporation's promoters. (R. p. 571, line 24 – p. 572, line 1; R. p. 609, lines 7-20).

In developing the business plan, Kaj and Krish researched the upstate South Carolina area for potential store locations. Kaj and Krish rode together to examine various locations between December 2007 and May 2008. On one occasion an employee of Verizon named “Andre” rode with Kaj and Krish to inspect some of the locations they were considering for VP Enterprises. (R. p. 122, ¶18; R. p. 186, lines 12-22). Kaj and Krish agreed on 10 potential sites or areas they had located for new stores. Krish admitted Kaj played a role in selecting locations, (though he denies it was significant). (R. p. 122, ¶19). These locations were included in the VP Enterprises business plan. (R. p. 974-75). After Kaj and Krish jointly drafted and finalized the VP Enterprises business plan, Krish e-mailed the business plan to Verizon’s Kelley Pearson. (R. p. 972). The VP Enterprises – Verizon business plan closely tracked Kaj’s business plan for Tava Grill. (R. pp. 959-64 and 973-78).

After the business plan was submitted to Verizon, Krish Patel arranged with Allan Hill, Esquire, for Mr. Hill to draft the incorporation and organizational documents for VP Enterprises. The Articles of Incorporation for a Statutory Close Corporation were filed January 24, 2008 and listed Krish’s home as the registered office. The concurrently drafted Initial Annual Report of Corporations listed Kaj, Vijay and Krish as the directors and principal officers. The Corporate Data sheet listed Kaj and Vijay as directors, Kaj as president, and Vijay as vice-president. Krish was named as Secretary and Treasurer of VP Enterprises which positions he accepted. (R. pp. 999-1005; R. p. 580, lines 1-12; R. p. 121, ¶12). The opening incorporator resolution appointed Kaj and Vijay as directors. (R. p. 1136). The day following the filing of the Articles of Incorporation, VP Enterprises

filed its application for a federal ID number and listed "Verizon Cellular Store" as its principal service. (R. p. 1006).

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