THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 19 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No.: 2011-CP-23-07388
Appellate Case No.: 2015-000162

Pankaj Patel, individually and derivatively on behalf of
Nominal Defendant, VP Enterprises, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

Krish Patel, Vijay Patel, and P Communications, Inc.,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Thomas L. Stephenson, Esquire
(S.C. Bar 5332)
STEPHENSON & MURPHY, LLC
207 Whitsett Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
Telephone: (864) 370-9400

Andrew A. Mathias (S.C. Bar No. 76220)

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

An action against an officer for failure to perform the duties imposed by this section must be commenced within three years after the cause of action has accrued, or within two years after the time when the cause of action is discovered, or should reasonably have been discovered, whichever sooner occurs. This limitations period does not apply to breaches of duty which have been concealed fraudulently.

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-420(e). Thus, Appellant’s claims are time-barred unless filed within two years of the date he knew or should have known about his cause of action. *See Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 353, 626 S.E.2d at 340.

“South Carolina’s statute of limitations requires very little to start the clock.” *Maier v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 380, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998) (internal quotation marks omitted). In order for a statutory limitations period to begin to run, a plaintiff need not have a fully-developed legal theory of recovery or have sought the assistance of counsel. *See Snell v. Columbia Gun Exch., Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 303, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981). Rather, a claim accrues (and the statute of limitations begins to run) the moment “the facts and circumstances” known to the plaintiff would “put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.” *Id.* The determination of whether a reasonable person knew or should have known of a potential claim is an objective test, which does not rely on what the plaintiff subjectively thought or believed. *See Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994).

Appellant claims Respondents breached their fiduciary duties by “divert[ing] a corporate opportunity of VP Enterprises to develop, open, and operate Verizon Wireless stores under the name of VP Enterprises.” (R. 98-100.) As Appellant admitted at trial, he learned the central fact necessary to his claim—that Krish had obtained agency status with Verizon through an entity other than VP Enterprises—no later than October 18, 2008.¹⁵ (R. 221-222.) It was at that point that a reasonable person in Appellant’s position should have known that some claim against Krish might exist. However, Kaj did not file suit until November 4, 2011—well past the two-year limitations period.

¹⁵ Appellant actually stated at trial that he knew in August or September of 2008. (R. 317-318.) Although this testimony is helpful to Respondents, this was likely a misstatement. The documentary evidence, and the other testimony, indicates that Appellant learned that Krish had obtained agency status with Verizon on October 18, 2008.

Attempting to avoid the time bar, Kaj argues that Krish fraudulently concealed the existence of a claim by failing to reveal certain information. This argument lacks merit.

The fraudulent concealment doctrine is a form of equitable estoppel. *See Wegner v. Pella Corp.*, 2015 WL 2089658, at *3 (D.S.C. May 5, 2015). It applies when the defendant has concealed “the plaintiff’s right to bring a cause of action,” (*Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 352, 626 S.E.2d at 340.), and thus is a specific application of the general rule that “a defendant may be estopped from claiming the statute of limitations as a defense if some conduct or representation by the defendant has induced the plaintiff to delay in filing suit.” *Hedgepath v. AT&T*, 348 S.C. 340, 360, 559 S.E.2d 327, 338 (Ct. App. 2001). In order to estop a defendant from asserting a statute-of-limitations defense on the basis of fraudulent concealment, the plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant engaged in “[d]eliberate acts of deception ... calculated to conceal” the cause of action from the plaintiff, *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 140, 754 S.E.2d 494, 500-01 (2014); (2) that the plaintiff relied on the defendant’s misrepresentations or omissions; and (3) that the plaintiff “lacked either knowledge, or the means of knowledge, of the true facts,” *Maher*, 331 S.C. at 382, 500 S.E.2d at 209.

As the Supreme Court explained in *Clearwater Trust*, when an officer’s or director’s breach of duty has been fraudulently concealed, the plaintiff must file suit “within two years after the time when the cause of action is discovered, or should reasonably have been discovered.”¹⁶ *Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 352-53, 626 S.E.2d at

¹⁶ According to Appellant, “[i]n cases of fraudulent concealment, neither S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-420 nor the *Clearwater Trust* court have imposed on plaintiff the duty of reasonable diligence in discovery of a defendant’s breach.” (App. Br. at 22-23.) This is incorrect. The question in *Clearwater Trust* was which limitations period—the three-year period under the accrual rule, or the two-year period under the discovery rule—applied

340 (internal quotation marks omitted). Appellant maintains that Respondent Krish concealed the relevant facts until May or June of 2010, when Kaj finally learned the name of Krish's company (P Communications) and the last name of Krish's partner (Phillips).

Kaj's position cannot be squared with South Carolina precedent applying the fraudulent concealment doctrine. This Court's decision in *Maher v. Tietex Corp.* (331 S.C. 371, 500 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App. 1998)), is particularly relevant. When Tietex hired William Maher in 1985, as a salesman for its newly established tickings division, it promised that 50% of the company's pretax profits would be divided among sales personnel. *Id.* at 375, 500 S.E.2d at 206. In 1989, having never received a bonus, Maher became concerned that the reason the tickings division had never shown a profit (and Maher had never received a bonus) was because Tietex was improperly allocating costs to the tickings division. Company personnel attempted to allay Maher's concerns by assuring Maher that he was moving up in the company and that other, better, bonus plans would be available to him in the future. *See id.* at 378-79, 500 S.E.2d at 208. From the outset, Maher viewed these responses as a "song and dance," and he walked away from these conversations "without really getting a satisfactory response to his concerns." *Id.* at 379, 500 S.E.2d at 208. Maher filed suit in 1994. When Tietex raised the statute of limitations as a defense, Maher argued that the company should be estopped from pleading the statute of limitations because it had concealed the true facts from him. This Court disagreed:

when a cause of action had been fraudulently concealed. *See Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 351-52, 626 S.E.2d at 340. The Supreme Court held that the discovery rule's two-year period controlled. The discovery rule, as expressed in the statute and as known at common law, requires a plaintiff to exercise reasonable diligence.

[An] essential element of equitable estoppel requires that the party claiming estoppel lacked either knowledge, or the means of knowledge, of the true facts. Maher testified that he was dissatisfied with Lawson's equivocal answers about the plan in 1989 and 1990, but that after Lawson explained other potential for compensation from advancement, he "walked away."

Id. at 382, 500 S.E.2d at 209-10.

The facts of this case echo the facts of *Maher*. In this case, the evidence shows that Appellant was immediately suspicious of Krish's conduct in opening a Verizon store with Corby's assistance. Appellant testified that when he arrived at Vijay's house for a small gathering on October 18, 2008:

I'd asked Vijay if Krish was going to be joining us. And he said, yeah, he would be later on, once he gets back from his Verizon grand opening.

And I said, Verizon grand opening? Is this – did he get a job back with them or is this something to do with our ... Verizon plan that we were working on? ***And he immediately clammed up*** and said, well, you know, you're going to have to talk to Krish about this. ...

Krish came in probably later on that evening

And I asked him, ... what is going on with this Verizon thing? And I said, ***is this related to what we're doing*** or is this something different? He says, ... I found this guy who already had a Verizon business and a license. And I just recently joined up with him to get our foot in the door, since we were having the issue with, you know, not finding out from Verizon why we've been denied.

So I asked him, I said, you know, ***you should have told me about this before.***

(R. 221-222 (emphasis added).) Thus, in this case as in *Maher*, Appellant's own testimony shows that he was immediately suspicious of Krish's actions, and of Krish's explanation for those actions.

Moreover, Appellant testified regarding his continued suspicions of Krish's alleged promise, in October 2008, that it would take "eight to twelve months"—*i.e.*, until

June-October 2009—to get Corby out, after which time Appellant would be in. (R. 222.) Appellant was dissatisfied with this assurance, which he disparaged as “some sort of an arrangement that I didn’t have details for.” (R. 318.) Appellant testified that in the months following their October conversation, he repeatedly asked Krish about when he would be brought into the operation. (R. 225-227; *see* R. 230. (“Q. Can you tell the Court about any conversation that you can recall where you *did not* discuss with Krish the Corby deal? A. No.” (emphasis added)).)¹⁷ During this period, Appellant learned that Krish had opened several more Verizon stores. (R. 230.) Like the plaintiff in *Maher*, Appellant was *never* satisfied with Krish’s promises, and his suspicions only increased over time:

[I]t was started from, yeah, we can’t find anything from Verizon. I’m with Corby now. And it’s going to take eight to twelve months to get out.

So that was our plan, wait until eight to ten months, get him out. And then we’ll continue. *So that brought us to ... late 2009.*

And when that came and went, *that’s when I was getting antsy and saying, hey, you know, are we doing this or not?*

(R. 324-325 (emphasis added).)

In this case, as in *Maher*, Appellant was plainly dissatisfied with Krish’s assurances *from the outset* – in October 2008. Moreover, Krish never made any attempt to conceal from Appellant that he (Krish) had “pursued a Verizon opportunity by a different method” than VP Enterprises (R. 317), nor did he attempt to hide from Appellant the fact that he had opened other locations. (R. 331.) In short, a reasonable person in Appellant’s position should have been known that he might have a claim at

¹⁷ There is not one mention of this in the many, many emails Kaj sent Krish and Vijay after October 2008.

least in October 2008, and certainly no later than October 2009, by which time Krish had repeatedly failed to fulfill the alleged promise to bring Appellant in. *Accord Kreutner v. David*, 320 S.C. 283, 286, 465 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1995) (holding plaintiff should have been aware of claim based on attorney’s failure to record a mortgage after the attorney “had stonewalled more than *nine requests* for the mortgage” (emphasis in original)).

Despite all of this, Appellant contends that his claims are not time-barred because “Krish failed to disclose critical information” necessary to his claim. (App. Br. at 25.) But, the test for whether the limitations period has begun to run is not whether the plaintiff has all (or even many) of the facts; the test is whether the information the plaintiff did have was enough to put him on notice of a potential claim. “A party cannot escape the application of [the discovery] rule by claiming ignorance of existing facts and circumstances, because the law also provides that if such facts and circumstances *could have been known* to the party through the exercise of ordinary care and reasonable diligence, the same result follows. *Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc., S.C. Div., Inc.*, 300 S.C. 182, 185, 386 S.E.2d 798, 799 (Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis in original).

In view of the knowledge Appellant did have in October 2008—*i.e.*, that Krish had opened a Verizon store through P Comm instead of through VP Enterprises—the facts allegedly concealed by Krish are of little moment. First, Appellant claims that Krish’s statement that he had “‘joined with another individual who obtained a Verizon license’ conveys the unmistakable impression that” Krish’s partner had used his own business plan, rather than “repackaging” VP Enterprises’ plan. According to Appellant, if Corby had used his own business plan, Appellant would not have a claim for usurpation of corporate opportunity. (App. Br. at 25.) This turns the discovery rule on its head:

Appellant is essentially arguing that Krish had a duty to disclose facts showing that he (Krish) would not have a *defense* to a claim. The discovery rule, however, does not ask whether the known facts put the plaintiff on notice of a *successful* claim against the defendant; the question is whether the known facts put the plaintiff on notice of the possible *existence* of a claim.

Appellant also claims that Krish should have told him “the names of the new company and the individual supposedly running it.”¹⁸ (App. Br. at 25.) This information does not change the picture for purposes of the discovery rule. There is no material difference, in terms of Appellant’s ability to perceive the existence of a possible claim against Krish, between what Appellant actually knew—that “Krish opened a Verizon store with somebody named Corby”—and what Appellant claims he should have been told—that “Krish opened a Verizon store with somebody named Corby Phillips, through a company called P Communications.” At best, disclosure of this information would have made it easier for Appellant to investigate a potential claim against Krish. It does not, however, tell Appellant anything he did not already know about the existence of a possible claim against Krish.¹⁹

Several of the allegedly concealed facts do not support Appellant’s fraudulent concealment argument because they have nothing to do with Appellant’s claim for

¹⁸ Notably, however, many of the emails Krish sent Kaj after October 2008 identified the exact name of the entity and him as the Director of Operations for a “Verizon Wireless Retailer.” (*E.g.*, R. 1291.)

¹⁹ Moreover, if Appellant needed this information in order to “research the background of this venture,” he could simply have asked Krish for Corby’s last name, or for the name of the company. Even without Corby’s last name, a search for “Corby” in the Secretary of State’s online database of registered agents would have revealed that, in October 2008, Corby Phillips was the registered agent for a company called P Communications.

usurpation of corporate opportunity. In order to establish fraudulent concealment, Appellant must show that the facts concealed would have put him on notice of his claim—in other words, the concealed facts must at least be relevant to Appellant’s claim for usurpation of corporate opportunity. But, four facts supposedly concealed by Krish are utterly irrelevant to Appellant’s usurpation claim: that P Comm used the same attorney as VP Enterprises; that P Comm used the same bank as VP Enterprises; that Krish’s new partner was merely a “straw man”; and “the true reason” why Krish quit his job with Verizon.

By Appellant’s own admission, Krish informed him on October 18, 2008, that he had opened a Verizon store without Appellant. Without a doubt, Appellant at that moment either knew or through “exercise of reasonable diligence” should have known that he might have a claim against Respondents. However, he did not file his action until November 4, 2011—well outside the two-year window. His claims are barred.

B. If Appellant’s fiduciary duty claims are equitable, they are barred by laches.

As discussed above, all of Appellant’s fiduciary duty claims are legal, not equitable. Based on his belated re-characterization of his claims as equitable, however, Appellant argues that the statute of limitations does not control and that his claims should not be barred by laches. The trial court ruled that, to the extent Appellant’s claims sound in equity, they are barred by laches. This ruling rested on a proper exercise of the trial court’s discretion, and it should be affirmed by this court.

“Laches is neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Emery v. Smith*, 361 S.C. 207, 215, 603 S.E.2d 598, 602 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal

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